

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF STANDARDS AND TECHNOLOGY

Alllo3 760594

NIST PUBLICATIONS

NIST Technical Note 1349

Phase Characteristics and Time Responses of Unknown Linear Systems Determined from Measured CW Amplitude Data

> M. T. Ma J. W. Adams

-QC 100 .U5753 1349 1991 C.2 -

s

Phase Characteristics and Time Responses of Unknown Linear Systems Determined from Measured CW Amplitude Data

GC 100

US-5-

1349

M. T. Ma J. W. Adams

Electromagnetic Fields Division Electronics and Electrical Engineering Laboratory National Institute of Standards and Technology Boulder, Colorado 80303-3328



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, Robert A. Mosbacher, Secretary NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF STANDARDS AND TECHNOLOGY, John W. Lyons, Director Issued November 1991 National Institute of Standards and Technology Technical Note 1349 Natl. Inst. Stand. Technol., Tech. Note 1349, 24 pages (November 1991) CODEN:NTNOEF

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON: 1991

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402-9325

CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>

Abstract 1		
1.	INTRODUCTION 1	
2.	THEORETICAL BACKGROUND 2	
3.	CONVENTIONAL APPROACH	
4.	AN ALTERNATIVE BUT SIMPLER APPROACH 4	
5.	CONSIDERATION OF ENERGY CONTENTS	
6.	CONCLUSIONS	
7.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
8.	REFERENCES	

PHASE CHARACTERISTICS AND TIME RESPONSES OF UNKNOWN LINEAR SYSTEMS DETERMINED FROM MEASURED CW AMPLITUDE DATA

M. T. Ma and J. W. Adams Electromagnetic Fields Division National Institute of Standards and Technology Boulder, CO 80303

Abstract

An alternative but simpler technique for calculating the complete time and frequency characteristics of an unknown linear system from the measured amplitude response to cw excitations is described. The associated system transfer function so determined may or may not be at minimum phase. A comparison of the time responses shows the worst case. Results also indicate that the susceptibility of the minimum phase system to damage by pulsed excitation is the greatest during the initial period of excitation.

Key words: all-pass function; Hilbert transform; Laplace transform; minimum phase; non-minimum phase; system transfer function; time response.

1. INTRODUCTION

The time response of a linear system to a given excitation (whether it be cw or pulse) can be uniquely determined, if the transfer function of this system is known, by use of the inverse Laplace transform. However, for complicated systems involved in practical applications, the system transfer function may be unknown. The time response of such a system to pulsed excitations can be obtained only by sophisticated time-domain measurements or by derivations using measurements of the amplitude and phase responses to cw excitations. These measurement results can then be used to assess (a) whether or not the system may survive an assumed pulsed excitation, and (b) if not, what hardening is required for the system to withstand the threat. Such time-domain or frequency-domain phase measurements typically require expensive equipment and special considerations on radiation hazards and regulatory compliance (if performed outdoors). On the other hand, taking cw amplitude responses of the same complicated system due to low levels of escitation is relatively easy and less costly. If the measured cw amplitude could be used to predict the system's phase and thus its transfer function, the time response to a general excitation could then be determined.

In this report, we present an alternative but simpler technique to determine the time and frequency characteristics of an unknown, linear system, based only on a given set of cw amplitude responses. The associated system transfer function so determined may or may not be at minimum phase. The time responses corresponding to the minimum phase and non-minimum phases thus obtained can then be used to assess the susceptibility of the system to damage by pulsed excitations. The theoretical background of relationship between the amplitude and phase of a minimum-phase transfer function is outlined in section 2. The conventional numerical approach practiced in the past for calculating the phase information and the time response of the linear minimum-phase systems from the measured cw amplitude, and the accuracy involved in this process are reviewed and discussed in section 3. Our new approach for obtaining a set of transfer functions (both minimum and non-minimum phases) and the corresponding impulse responses directly from the given cw amplitudes is presented in section 4. This technique does not require knowledge of the necessary phase information. Of course, this phase information is automatically obtained after the system's transfer function is determined. It can also be determined analytically, if it is required, even before the minimum-phase transfer function is obtained. Physical meanings of the minimum-phase results are discussed. A few examples with various orders of transfer functions and existing measured data to demonstrate this idea are given. Energy contents associated with the system are discussed in section 5. Some concluding remarks and extensions for future work are presented in the final section.

2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

A well designed, stable, linear system with time-invariant and lumpedconstant elements exists only when its transfer function H(s) has no poles in the right half of the complex frequency s-plane. In other words, H(s) is analytic in Re(s) ≥ 0 , where Re stands for the "real part of" [1]. We address only the stable system in this report, because otherwise the system is not useful in application. In general, H(s) is a rational function of s or a ratio of two polynomials with the degree of the numerator polynomial lower than the degree of the denominator polynomial. When this transfer function is evaluated at the real radian frequency $s = j\omega$, H(j ω) is a complex function of ω . It then consists of a real part R(ω) and an imaginary part X(ω), or a magnitude $|H(\omega)|$ and a phase $\theta(\omega)$. That is,

$$H(j\omega) = R(\omega) + j X(\omega) = |H(j\omega)| e^{-j\theta(\omega)},$$
(1)

where the convention of assigning a minus sign to the phase is adopted. The magnitude function $|H(j\omega)|$ may also be expressed in terms of the attenuation function $\alpha(\omega)$:

$$|H(j\omega)| = e^{-\alpha(\omega)}.$$
 (2)

(3)

When H(s) is analytic, the real and imaginary parts of $H(j\omega)$ are related by the Hilbert transform pair [2],

$$X(\omega) = - \frac{2\omega}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{R(y)}{\omega^2 - y^2} dy,$$

and

$$\mathbb{R}(\omega) = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{yX(y)}{\omega^2 - y^2} \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

In other words, if one part is given or specified, the other part can be uniquely determined by performing one of the integrals shown in (3). The complex function $H(j\omega)$ is then completely obtained. In practice, however, (3) is not useful because we cannot just measure $R(\omega)$ or $X(\omega)$. If, in addition, H(s) has no zeros in $\text{Re}(s) \ge 0$, the transfer function is said to be at minimum phase, herein denoted by $\text{H}_{\text{m}}(s)$. Under this condition, the attenuation and phase functions are related by another pair of Hilbert transforms [2, 3]:

$$\theta(\omega) = \frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha(y)}{y^2 - \omega^2} \, \mathrm{d}y = -\frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\ln|H_{\mathrm{m}}(jy)|}{y^2 - \omega^2} \, \mathrm{d}y, \tag{4a}$$

and

$$\alpha(\omega) = \alpha(0) - \frac{\omega^2}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\theta(y)}{y(y^2 - \omega^2)} \, \mathrm{d}y. \tag{4b}$$

Equation (4b) shows that the attenuation function can be determined completely from a given phase function only when $\alpha(0)$ is also known. But, for our application, only (4a) is useful because we assume that the magnitude (or attenuation) function is given. Once $\theta(\omega)$ is determined, the entire complex $H_m(j\omega)$ is obtained from (1), because $|H_m(j\omega)|$ or $\alpha(\omega)$ is already known. The impulse response of the system is then traditionally calculated by the inverse Fourier transform,

$$h_{m}(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_{m}(j\omega) e^{j\omega t} dt.$$
(5)

The system's time response to a general excitation can subsequently be computed by the convolution integral $h_m(t)*e(t)$, where e(t) is an arbitrary m_m

excitation, cw or pulse, applied to the system. The success of determining the time response in this case is based on the assumption that the system's transfer function is at minimum phase.

3. CONVENTIONAL APPROACH

Since the type of integral in (4a) is considered extremely difficult to calculate, the approach has been to apply another transformation known as the Wiener-Lee transform [2] to $\alpha(\omega)$ or $|H(j\omega)|$, and then to use numerical procedures [4] to obtain the necessary $\theta(\omega)$, $H(j\omega)$, and h(t).

(6)

When the Wiener-Lee transform [2],

$$\omega = - \tan(\delta/2),$$

is applied, we are able to transform the entire ω range, $(-\infty, \infty)$ into $(-\pi, \pi)$ for δ . Because of this transformation, the original attenuation and phase functions, $\alpha(\omega)$ and $\theta(\omega)$, will become respectively $\alpha'(\delta)$ and $\theta'(\delta)$. Furthermore, since the attenuation function $\alpha(\omega) = -\ln|H(j\omega)| = -\frac{1}{2} \ln |R^2(\omega) + X^2(\omega)|$ is an even function, and the phase function $\theta(\omega) = \tan^{-1}[X(\omega)/R(\omega)]$ is an odd function, of ω in $(-\infty, \infty)$, their respective transforms $\alpha'(\delta)$ and $\theta'(\delta)$ are also even and odd functions of δ in $(-\pi, \pi)$. As such, they may be expanded into Fourier series,

$$\alpha'(\delta) = a_0 + a_1 \cos \delta + \dots + a_n \cos n\delta + \dots,$$
(7)

and

$$\theta'(\delta) = b_1 \sin \delta + \dots + b_n \sin n\delta + \dots$$

where the expansion coefficients are determined by

$$a_0 = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \alpha'(\delta) \, d\delta, \qquad a_n = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \alpha'(\delta) \cos n\delta \, d\delta, \qquad (8a)$$

and

$$b_{n} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \theta'(\delta) \sin n\delta \, d\delta.$$
(8b)

When the system under consideration is such that h(t) is causal [h(t) = 0 when $t \le 0$, as is usually so in practice, it is known that a and b are simply related by [2]

$$b_n = -a_n.$$
(9)

Therefore, the determination of a_n from (8a) automatically yields b_n , which in turn gives $\theta'(\delta)$, $\theta(\omega)$, and thus $H(j\omega)$. The impulse response is then obtained from (5).

The justification for using the Wiener-Lee transform and the derivation as outlined above seems reasonable and straightforward. The important question we should ask is then: if the integral in (4a) is difficult to compute before the Wiener-Lee transform is applied because the given $|H(j\omega)|$ or $\alpha(\omega)$ are very complicated, is it much simpler to compute the Fourier series expansion coefficients a_n as required in (8a) after the Wiener-Lee transform is used? If so, what kind of penalty is paid in terms of the final accuracy? After all, the entire procedure requires (i) conversion of the given $\alpha(\omega)$ data into $\alpha'(\delta)$, (ii) numerical computation of a_n from $\alpha'(\delta)$, (iii) construction of a set of $\theta'(\delta)$ by including a finite number of terms in the Fourier sine series of (7) with $b_n = -a_n$, (iv) numerical determination of $H(j\omega)$ based on the given attenuation data and the newly retrieved phase data, and (v) numerical computation of $h_m(t)$ by performing the discrete inverse Fourier transform. Each of these five steps involves approximations and thus introduces inaccuracies.

4. AN ALTERNATIVE BUT SIMPLER APPROACH

Here, we review modern passive network theory together with a reexamination of the Hilbert transform (4a) to assess whether or not a simple and analytical method may be devised to handle the problem at hand without going through unnecessary numerical procedures. Since H(s) for the system under study is a rational function of s, the square of the magnitude of $H(j\omega)$, $|H(j\omega)|^2$, is a ratio of two polynomials of even order in ω . As such, the numerator and denominator polynomials in $|H(j\omega)|^2$ may contain one or more, or any combination, of the following elementary factors:

(i) $\omega^2 + a^2$ (10)

and

ii)
$$\omega^4 + b\omega^2 + c^2$$
.

where a, b, and c are real numbers. In addition, since $|H(j\omega)|^2 \ge 0$ for all ω , we require, for the factor (ii) in (10),

$$b^2 \le 4c^2. \tag{11}$$

The number of the above elementary factors contained in $|H(j\omega)|^2$ depends on the complexity of the transfer function being studied. The first-order transfer function has just one factor in form (i) in the denominator of $|H(j\omega)|^2$, and its numerator is a constant. For a second-order transfer function, the denominator of $|H(j\omega)|^2$ contains a factor in form (ii), or two factors in form (i), and the numerator has either a factor in form (i) or a constant. For a third-order transfer function, the denominator can be expressed as a product of form (i) and form (ii) [or as a product of three factors in form (i)], and the numerator as a factor of form (ii), form (i), or a constant. Thus, for an nth-order transfer function, the denominator of $|H(j\omega)|^2$ has a special form of polynomial such as $\omega^{2n} + a_{n-1}\omega^{2n-2} + a_{n-2}\omega^{2n-4} + \ldots + a_0$, and the numerator is an even polynomial of the order of (2n - 2) or lower.

When the magnitude function $|H(j\omega)|$ can be described by a mathematical expression, H(s) can be deduced directly and exactly from it in a straightforward manner [5], without having to find the phase function first. For example, consider the simplest, first-order case described by

$$|H(j\omega)|^{2} = \frac{1}{\omega^{2} + a^{2}}, \quad a > 0.$$
 (12)

We can use the relationship, $|H(j\omega)|^2 = H(s)H(-s)|_{s = j\omega}$, to obtain

$$H(s)H(-s) = \frac{1}{-s^2 + a^2} = \frac{1}{(-s + a)(s + a)}, \qquad (13)$$

yielding

$$H_{m}(s) = 1/(s + a),$$
 (14)

which has a simple pole (s = -a) on the left-hand real axis. Since it has no zeros, the transfer function in this particular form is automatically at minimum phase. The associated impulse function is then determined directly by the inverse Laplace transform as $h_m(t) = \exp(-at)$, t > 0 without having to find the phase function first. It can readily be verified that (14) indeed gives $|H(j\omega)|^2$ in (12). Note that the other factor (-s + a) in (13) is not allowable in H(s) because the resulting system will then be unstable. The expression in (12) may represent the output of a low-pass filter with its maximum at $\omega = 0$ and with its half-power (or 3 dB) point at $\omega = a$. This same parameter "a" is also the decay rate of the time response.

Clearly, the phase function associated with the system's transfer function in (14) is,

$$\theta(\omega) = \tan^{-1}(\omega/a). \tag{15}$$

If, however, the phase information is desired before the system transfer function in (14) is obtained, it can also be found analytically by the following procedure. Since

$$\alpha(\omega) = -\ln |H(j\omega)| = -\frac{1}{2}\ln |H(j\omega)|^2 = \frac{1}{2}\ln(\omega^2 + a^2), \quad (16)$$

the required phase function for the minimum-phase case, in accordance with (4a), is

$$\theta(\omega) = \frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\ln(y^2 + a^2) \, dy}{2(y^2 - \omega^2)} = \frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln(y^2 + a^2) \, dy}{y^2 - \omega^2}$$

$$= \tan^{-1}(\omega/a), \tag{17}$$

which agrees with (15). The last step in (17) is achieved by using the definite integral [6]:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln(p^{2} + q^{2}x^{2}) dx}{g^{2}x^{2} - h^{2}} = \frac{\pi}{gh} \tan^{-1}(\frac{qh}{pg}), \quad p, q, g, h > 0.$$
(18)

Another method for getting $h_m(t)$ is through the inverse Fourier integral given in (5), since we already know the complex $H_m(j\omega) = |H_m(j\omega)| \exp[-j\theta(\omega)]$.

That is,

$$h_{m}(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_{m}(j\omega) e^{j\omega t} d\omega = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H_{m}(j\omega)| e^{j[\omega t - \theta(\omega)]} d\omega$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos[\omega t - \theta(\omega)]d\omega}{(\omega^{2} + a^{2})^{1/2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{a \cos(\omega t) d\omega}{\omega^{2} + a^{2}} + \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\omega \sin(\omega t) d\omega}{\omega^{2} + a^{2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} e^{-at} + \frac{1}{2} e^{-at} = e^{-at},$$

$$(19)$$

which is the same as obtained above by a much simpler procedure (inverse Laplace transform). The last line in (19) results from the application of the following two integrals [6]:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(\alpha x) dx}{x^{2} + \beta^{2}} = \frac{\pi}{2\beta} e^{-\alpha\beta} \quad \text{and} \quad \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{x \sin(\alpha x) dx}{x^{2} + \beta^{2}} = \frac{\pi}{2} e^{-\alpha\beta},$$

$$\alpha > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Re}(\beta) > 0. \tag{20}$$

This method of inverse Fourier integral is the one used in the numerical approach discussed in the last section.

We wish to note another important point about the transfer function. Even though the particular form in (14) is taken for analysis, it does not necessarily imply that the system under study is minimum phase. In fact, the original unknown system may possibly be represented by many transfer functions with non-minimum phases, because a product of $H_m(s)$ and an allpass function yields a transfer function with non-minimum phase but still with the same $|H(j\omega)|^2$. That is, $H_n(s) = H_m(s) H_a(s)$, where $H_n(s)$ is the non-minimum-phase transfer function, and $H_a(s)$ is the all-pass function defined as

$$H_{a}(s) = \Pi (s - \alpha_{i}) / \Pi(s + \alpha_{i}), \qquad (21)$$

with each zero in the right-half s-plane the mirror image of the corresponding pole in the left-half s-plane [5]. In (21), the symbol II denotes successive product, and the parameter α_i is either positive real or complex. When α_i is complex, (21) must also have another complex conjugate factor. The fact that $|H_a(j\omega)|^2 = 1$ explains why $|H_n(j\omega)|^2 = |H_m(j\omega)|^2$.

The corresponding impulse response is then

$$h_{n}(t) = h_{m}(t) * h_{a}(t),$$
 (22)

where $h_a(t)$ is the inverse Laplace transform of $H_a(s)$, and * represents convolution integral. For example, consider the case with a = 1 and $H_a(s) = a^{-1}$

(s - 2)/(s + 2). We then have $h_m(t) = e^{-t}$, t > 0, and

$$h_{n}(t) = h_{m}(t) * h_{a}(t) = h_{m}(t) * [\delta(t) - 4e^{-2t}]$$

= h_{m}(t) - r(t), t > 0, (23)

where

$$r(t) = 4e^{-t} * e^{-2t} = 4(e^{-t} - e^{-2t}).$$
(24)

Since $r(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \ge 0$, we conclude that $h_n(t) \le h_m(t)$. This implies that, for this particular example, if the minimum-phase system can survive a threat from a given pulsed excitation, the non-minimum-phase system can also successfully withstand the same threat.

Before we proceed with an example of a second-order transfer function, we note that the impulse response $h_n(t)$ given in (23) can also be obtained by first performing a partial fraction expansion of $H_n(s)$,

$$H_{n}(s) = H_{m}(s)H_{a}(s) = \frac{s-2}{(s+1)(s+2)} = \frac{-3}{s+1} + \frac{4}{s+2} , \qquad (25)$$

and then doing an inverse Laplace transform [7] to get

$$h_n(t) = -3e^{-t} + 4e^{-2t} = h_m(t) - r(t).$$
 (26)

We will now present another example using a second-order transfer function whose squared magnitude is given by

$$|H(j\omega)|^{2} = \frac{\omega^{2} + 1}{\omega^{4} + \omega^{2} + 16} , \qquad (27)$$

a plot of which is shown in figure 1 with its resonant frequency at $\omega^2 = 3$ and with a half-power bandwidth of $\Delta\omega^2 = 12.689$. From (27), we have

$$H(s)H(-s) = \frac{-s^2 + 1}{s^4 - s^2 + 16} = \frac{(s+1)(-s+1)}{(s^2 + 3s + 4)(s^2 - 3s + 4)} ,$$
(28)

thus yielding the minimum-phase transfer function

$$H_{m}(s) = \frac{s+1}{s^{2}+3s+4} , \qquad (29)$$

and the simplest possible non-minimum-phase transfer function

$$H_{n}(s) = \frac{-s+1}{s^{2}+3s+4} .$$
(30)

As a check, both (29) and (30) give the same $|H(j\omega)|^2$ in (27). Of course, the other possible non-minimum-phase transfer functions having the same $|H(j\omega)|^2$ in (27) are the product of $H_m(s)$ in (29) [or $H_n(s)$ in (30)] and the all-pass function $H_a(s)$ in (21).

The phases associated with the transfer functions given in (29) and (30) are respectively

$$\theta_{\rm m}(\omega) = \tan^{-1}[3\omega/(4 - \omega^2)] - \tan^{-1}(\omega),$$
 (31)

and

$$\theta_{n}(\omega) = \tan^{-1}[3\omega/(4 - \omega^{2})] + \tan^{-1}(\omega).$$
(32)

The impulse responses of (29) and (30) can be determined, respectively, to be [7]

$$h_{m}(t) = e^{-1.5t}(\cos 1.32288t - 0.37796 \sin 1.32288t),$$
 (33)

and

$$h_n(t) = e^{-1.5t}(-\cos 1.32288t + 1.88982 \sin 1.32288t)$$

= $h_m(t) - r(t)$, (34)

where

 $r(t) = 2e^{-1.5t}(\cos 1.32288t - 1.13389 \sin 1.32288t) \ge 0$

in $0 \le t \le 0.54634$. This means that $h_n(t) \le h_m(t)$ shortly after an excitation is applied to the system. The minimum-phase response will not underestimate the system behavior.

Thus, we have shown once again that (i) the minimum-phase transfer function for an unknown system and the resultant impulse response can be determined directly from the given $|H(j\omega)|^2$ without having to obtain the associated phase function, and (ii) the minimum-phase time response $h_m(t)$ so determined is the most conservative estimate as far as the initial threat to the system by an excitation is concerned.

The phase function corresponding to the minimum phase can also be determined from (4a) before its transfer function in (29) is obtained. We begin with the denominator of (27),

$$\omega^4 + \omega^2 + 16 = (\omega^2 + a_1^2)(\omega^2 + a_2^2), \tag{35}$$

where a_1^2 and a_2^2 are a complex conjugate pair. Even though it is straightforward to determine a_1^2 and a_2^2 [in this case, $a_1^2 = (1 + j \downarrow 63)/2$, and $a_2^2 = (1 - j \downarrow 63)/2$], we only need to know, as shown later, a_1a_2 and $a_1 + a_2$. We know from (35) that $a_1^2 + a_2^2 = 1$ and $a_1^2a_2^2 = 16$. We obtain $a_1a_2 = 4$, and $(a_1 + a_2)^2 = a_1^2 + a_2^2 + 2a_1a_2 = 1 + 8 = 9$, or $a_1 + a_2 = 3$. Then we have

$$\ln|H(j\omega)| = -\frac{1}{2}\ln(\omega^2 + a_1^2) - \frac{1}{2}\ln(\omega^2 + a_2^2) + \frac{1}{2}\ln(\omega^2 + 1).$$
(36)

Applying (4a) we obtain

$$\theta(\omega) = \theta_1(\omega) + \theta_2(\omega) - \theta_3(\omega), \qquad (37)$$

where, with the aid of (18),

$$\theta_1(\omega) = \frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{\ln(y^2 + a_1^2)}{y^2 - \omega^2} \, dy = \tan^{-1}(\omega/a_1), \tag{38}$$

$$\theta_{2}(\omega) = \frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln(y^{2} + a_{2}^{2})}{y^{2} - \omega^{2}} \, dy = \tan^{-1}(\omega/a_{2}), \qquad (39)$$

and

$$\theta_{3}(\omega) = \frac{\omega}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\ln(y^{2} + 1)}{y^{2} - \omega^{2}} \, dy = \tan^{-1}(\omega) \,.$$
(40)

However,

$$\theta_{1}(\omega) + \theta_{2}(\omega) = \tan^{-1}(\omega/a_{1}) + \tan^{-1}(\omega/a_{2})$$
$$= \tan^{-1}[(a_{1} + a_{2})\omega/(a_{1}a_{2} - \omega^{2})]$$
$$= \tan^{-1}[3\omega/(4 - \omega^{2})].$$
(41)

Thus, we have

$$\theta(\omega) = \tan^{-1}[3\omega/(4 - \omega^2)] - \tan^{-1}(\omega), \qquad (42)$$

which checks with (31).

The impulse response given in (33) can also be obtained by the inverse Fourier integral method, as we demonstrated in the first example for the first-order transfer function, with a much more involved procedure.

We make two comments about the examples presented above. First, in obtaining (38) and (39), we have extended the application of (18) to the case with a complex number for p. Evidently, (18) is still valid as long as a complex conjugate pair appears together. This is certainly satisfied in our study since the given $|H(j\omega)|^2$ is a rational function of ω^2 .

Second, the variable ω has been used loosely as frequency. In (27) we have identified $\omega^2 = 3$ (or $\omega = \sqrt{3}$) as the resonant frequency for the second-order case. Strictly speaking, ω should be treated as the normalized radian frequency. It can be translated into any frequency of interest by a simple frequency transformation [5],

$$\omega' = A\omega, \tag{43}$$

where A is a normalization constant.

If, for example, the actual resonant frequency occurs at $\sqrt{3}$ MHz, we then use $A = 2\pi (10)^6$ to translate $\omega = \sqrt{3}$ to $\omega' = \sqrt{3} \times 2\pi (10)^6$. Substituting $\omega = \omega'/A$ into (27) gives a new squared magnitude function,

$$|G(j\omega')|^{2} = \frac{A^{2}(\omega'^{2} + A^{2})}{\omega'^{4} + A^{2}\omega'^{2} + 16A^{4}}, \qquad (44)$$

yielding the $|G(j\omega')|^2$ vs ω'^2 curve identical to that shown in figure 1. The corresponding minimum-phase transfer function, impulse response, and phase function then become respectively:

$$G_{\rm m}(s') = \frac{A(s'+A)}{s'^2 + 3As' + 4A^2} , \qquad (45)$$

$$g_{\rm m}(t) = A e^{-1.5At} (\cos 1.32288At - 0.37796 \sin 1.32288At),$$
 (46)

and

$$\theta(\omega') = \tan^{-1}[3A\omega'/(4A^2 - \omega'^2)] - \tan^{-1}(\omega'/A).$$
(47)

The same principle and procedures apply to higher-order cases. The results on extracting $H_m(s)$, $h_m(t)$, and $\theta(\omega)$ from a given $|H(j\omega)|^2$ and the procedures involved, as demonstrated in the two examples, are exact, and no approximations have been exercised. Approximations are needed only when an analytical expression for $|H(j\omega)|^2$ is unknown. In practice, when only the measured data of $|H(j\omega)|^2$ and then to approximate it with a realizable, mathematical expression. By realizability, we mean (i) $|H(j\omega)|^2 = N(\omega^2)/D(\omega^2) \ge 0$ for all ω , (ii) the numerator and denominator polynomials, $N(\omega^2)$ and $D(\omega^2)$ are in even orders of ω with some restrictions on their real coefficients, and (iii) the degree of $N(\omega^2)$ is lower than the degree of $D(\omega^2)$ by at least 2. This can be achieved by the available approximation theory and curve-fitting techniques. In fact, this is the only step involving approximations.

The last example to demonstrate the applicability of the approach presented in this section is now given, and is based on the measured data shown in figure 2 (solid curve). The data represent normalized, vertically polarized electric fields reflected from a helicopter when it is irradiated by an impulse. By examining the solid curve in figure 2 more carefully, we notice at least three resonant frequencies at 16.5 MHz, 25.6 MHz, and 54.3 MHz. Obviously, this system is too complicated to be represented by a simple second-order transfer function. However, for demonstration purpose, we only consider the most important resonant frequency at 25.6 MHz. This means that we treat the dashed curve in figure 2 as "the given" one, and then try to approximate it by a second-order transfer function with minimum phase in the form of

$$H_m(s) = B/(s^2 + as + b),$$
 (48)

where B, a, and b are three unknown constants to be determined.

From (48), we have

$$|H_{\rm m}(j\omega)|^2 = \frac{B^2}{\omega^4 - (2b - a^2)\omega^2 + b^2} , \qquad (49)$$

which has the resonant frequency at $\omega_0^2 = b - a^2/2$.

Expressing (49) in terms of ω_0 gives

$$|H_{\rm m}(j\omega)|^2 = \frac{B^2}{\omega^4 - 2\omega_0^2 \omega^2 + b^2} .$$
 (50)

Two essential conditions are then imposed on (50):

$$\omega_0^2 = b - a^2/2 = (2\pi \times 25.6 \times 10^6)^2 , \qquad (51)$$

and

$$H_{\rm m}(j\omega_0)|^2 = 53^2$$
 (or 34.48 dB as given in fig. 2) (52)

A third condition may be imposed at either (i) 20 MHz or (ii) 30 MHz. Indeed, any other condition based on a physical reasoning may be used. If we choose (i) with $\omega_1 = 2\pi \times 20 \times (10)^6 = 1.2566 \times 10^8$, and use

$$|H_{m}(j\omega_{1})|^{2} = 13^{2}$$
 (or 22.28 dB as indicated in fig. 2), (53)

we have the solutions from (51), (52), and (53):

$$B = 13.5185 \times 10^{16}$$
, $a = 0.1584 \times 10^8$, $b = 2.5998 \times 10^{16}$. (54)

The $|H_m(j\omega)|^2$ in (50) with the values of B, a, and b given in (54) is plotted in figure 2 as the curve marked with dots. Not surprisingly, the frequency region from 10 MHz to 25.6 MHz is very accurately matched to the dashed curve, while the frequency region greater than 25.6 MHz is not.

If we choose (ii) for matching at 30 MHz (which is a 3-dB point), we have ω_2 = 1.8850 x 10^8. The condition

$$|H_{\rm m}(j\omega_2)|^2 = 53^2/2$$
 (or 31.48 dB), (55)

with (51) and (52), yields

$$B = 51.1874 \times 10^{16}$$
, $a = 0.5906 \times 10^8$, $b = 2.7616 \times 10^{16}$. (56)

The $|H_{m}(j\omega)|^{2}$ in (50) with this new set of B, a, and b values is presented in figure 2 as the curve marked with crosses. Here we see a better approximation for frequencies higher than the resonant frequency, but a poorer approximation for lower frequencies. Even though these two approximations may not be wholly satisfactory, they are still considered effective because the complicated experimental curve is approximated by a simple second-order transfer function. A higher-order (4th or 6th) transfer function, or even a different kind of a second-order transfer function such as $H_m(s) = B(s + c)/(s^2 + as + b)$ with an additional control parameter c will certainly give a better approximation. The use of higher-order transfer functions and additional control parameters should be topics for future work. The objective of this report is primarily to demonstrate the feasibility of solving this kind of problem with a simpler approach.

The impulse responses for the two approximations under discussion are: (i) with the matching point at 20 MHz,

$$h_{m1}(t) = 8.4347 \times 10^8 e^{-\alpha_1 t} \sin \beta_1 t, \quad t > 0, \quad (57)$$

with $\alpha_1 = 0.0792 \times 10^8$, and $\beta_1 = 1.6104 \times 10^8$;

and

(ii) with the matching point at 30 MHz,

$$h_{m2}(t) = 31.0755 \times 10^8 e^{-\alpha_2 t} \sin \beta_2 t , t > 0 , \qquad (58)$$

with $\alpha_2 = 0.2953 \times 10^8$, and $\beta_2 = 1.6354 \times 10^8 .$

The normalized time responses are shown in figure 3 with curves marked respectively with dots and crosses, along with the normalized measured time response (the unmarked curve). On the first look, the predicted minimum-phase time responses clearly do not agree well with the measured curve. implies that the actual system (helicopter plus its attached This instruments and equipment) may have a non-minimum-phase transfer function with one or more zeros in the right half s-plane. This fact is also indicated by the initial negative response appearing in the experimental curve. On the other hand, the general shape of a damped sinusoid with a period between 3.84 x $(10)^{-8}$ and 3.90 x $(10)^{-8}$ seconds agrees well with the shape of the experimental curve. In addition, the rate of decay for $h_{m_2}(t)$ with $\alpha_2 = 0.2953 \times 10^8$ also approaches the experimental curve. This indicates that matching at 30 MHz not only improves $|H_m(j\omega)|^2$ at higher frequencies, but also yields a better approximation to the measured time response. This is desirable because the receiving antenna used in the actual measurement also works more accurately in the upper frequency range.

The corresponding phases are:

$$\theta_1(\omega) = \tan^{-1}[0.1584 \ge 10^8 \ \omega/(2.5998 \ge 10^{16} - \omega^2)], \tag{59}$$

and

$$\theta_2(\omega) = \tan^{-1} [0.5906 \times 10^8 \ \omega / (2.7616 \times 10^{16} - \omega^2)]. \tag{60}$$

5. CONSIDERATION OF ENERGY CONTENTS

To assess the ability of a system to withstand damage from an excitation, it is often useful to compute the energy associated with an impulse response. Indeed, if h(t) represents a voltage waveform across a 1 Ω resistor, the quantity

$$E = \int_{0}^{\infty} h^{2}(t) dt$$
(61)

equals the total energy delivered to the resistor by the excitation [2]. Equation (61) also represents the area under the curve $h^2(t)$.

The energy E may also be computed, in view of Parseval's theorem [2], by

$$E = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |H(j\omega)|^2 d\omega.$$
(62)

Since the minimum-phase impulse response $h_m(t)$ and the associated nonminimum-phase impulse response $h_n(t) = h_m(t) * h_a(t)$ have the same $|H(j\omega)|^2$, their respective total energies [in $0 \le t \le \infty$] are equal even though $h_n(t) \le h_m(t)$ during the initial period near $t = 0^+$ as demonstrated in section 4.

For the first example considered in section 4, we have

$$|H_{m}(j\omega)|^{2} = 1/(\omega^{2} + a^{2}), \text{ and } h_{m}(t) = e^{-at}$$

The energy is then, from (62),

$$E = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega^2 + a^2} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega^2 + a^2} = 1/(2a);$$
(63)

or, from (61),

$$E = \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{m}^{2}(t) dt = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-2at} dt = 1/(2a).$$
 (64)

Referring to the example with a non-minimum-phase impulse response presented in (23), we have $h_m(t) = e^{-t}$ (with a = 1), $h_a(t) = \delta(t) - 4e^{-2t}$, and $h_n(t) = h_m(t) * h_a(t) = -3e^{-t} + 4e^{-2t}$. The energy is then

$$E = \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{n}^{2}(t) dt = \int_{0}^{\infty} (9e^{-2t} - 24e^{-3t} + 16e^{-4t}) dt$$

$$= 1/2 = 1/(2a)$$
 with $a = 1$, (65)

which is indeed the same as in (63) and (64).

For the second example as given in (27), we have

$$E = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{(\omega^2 + 1)d\omega}{\omega^4 + \omega^2 + 16} = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{a_1 d\omega}{2(\omega^2 + \beta_1)} + \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{a_1^{*} d\omega}{2(\omega^2 + \beta_1^{*})}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \{a_1/\sqrt{\beta_1} + a_1^{*}/\sqrt{\beta_1^{*}}\} = 5/24,$$
(66)

where

$$a_1 = \frac{1 + j/J63}{2}$$
, and $\beta_1 = \frac{1 + jJ63}{2}$. (67)

The same result can be obtained by computing

$$E = \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{m}^{2}(t) dt$$
 or $E = \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{n}^{2}(t) dt$, (68)

where $h_m(t)$ and $h_n(t)$ are given respectively in (33) and (34).

For our third example involving experimental data, the energies are: (i) when the frequency point is matched at 20 MHz,

$$E_1 = \int_0^\infty h_{m1}^2(t) dt = 2.229 \times (10)^{10},$$

and (ii) when the frequency point is matched at 30 MHz,

$$E_2 = \int_0^\infty h_{m2}^2(t) dt = 7.978 \times (10)^{10},$$

where $h_{m1}(t)$ and $h_{m2}(t)$ are given respectively in (57) and (58).

6. CONCLUSIONS

We have shown an alternative and simpler method to determine the complete transfer function (including the associated phase information) and the impulse response for an unknown linear system from a given cw amplitude response, without having to retrieve the phase function first. The solutions (both minimum and non-minimum phases) are exact only if an analytical expression for the cw amplitude response is known. If not, approximations can be used to derive a realizable squared magnitude describing the cw system response. The remaining procedures for obtaining the complete system characteristics are exact. Three examples, using known analytical expressions and measured data for the cw magnitude, have been examined and shown to validate the proposed technique. We also have shown that the minimum-phase time response represents the most conservative estimate as far as the response to an initial threat to the system by an excitation is concerned. Examination of the basic properties of transfer functions with higher orders and with different forms for each order, and study of accuracies involved in the approximation (when the measured data are available) to cover more complicated cases should be topics for future research.

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We acknowledge with gratitude the partial support provided by the Naval Sea Systems Command (NAVSEA), and appreciate the interest and discussions of the problem under study with Vincent Paschke of NAVSEA and Robert Amadori of Naval Surface Warfare Center (NSWC).

8. REFERENCES

- [1] Reza, F. M.; Seely, S. Modern Network Analysis, New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Co.; 1959.
- [2] Papoulis, A. The Fourier Integral and its Applications, New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Co.; 1962.
- [3] Bode, H. W. Network Analysis and Feedback Amplifier Design, Princeton, N. J.: Van Nostrand; 1945.
- [4] Berkhout, A. J. On the minimum phase criterion of sampled signals, Brunei Shell Petroleum Co., State of Brunei; 1987.
- [5] Balabanian, N. Network Synthesis, Englewood Cliffs, N. J.: Prentice-Hall, Inc.; 1958.
- [6] Gradshteyn, I. S.; Ryzhik, I. M. Tables of Integrals, Series, and Products, New York, N. Y.: Academic Press; 1965.
- [7] Gardner, M. F.; Barnes, J. L. Transients in Linear Systems, Vol. I, New York, N. Y.: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1956.







Amplitude Response, dB

Vertically polarized electric field response of an unknown system: measured results, Figure 2.

modified response from the measured data, 1 1 1 1 1

approximation by matching at 20 MHz. 1

x x x x x approximation by matching at 30 MHz.



esnogen smit besilemnoN

BL-114A	U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE	1. PUBLICATION OR REPORT ROMBER	
(0-30)	NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF STANDARDS AND TECHNOLOGI.	2. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	
	BIDLIOCDADHIC DATA SHEFT	B91-0285	
	DIDLIVUNALIIV DATA VILLI	3. PUBLICATION DATE	
4. TITLE AND	UBTITLE		
Phase characteristics and time responses of unknown linear systems determined from measured cw amplitude data			
5. AUTHOR(S)			
М. Т.	Ma and J. W. Adams		
6. PERFORMIN	G ORGANIZATION (IF JOINT OR OTHER THAN NIST, SEE INSTRUCTIONS)	7. CONTRACT/GRANT NUMBER	
U.S. DEPAR	MENT OF COMMERCE		
BOULDER,	OLORADO 80303-3328	8. TTPE OF REFORT AND FERIOD COVERED	
9. SPONSORI	IG ORGANIZATION NAME AND COMPLETE ADDRESS (STREET, CITY, STATE, ZIP)		
10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES			
11. ABSTRACT	A 200-WORD OR LESS FACTUAL SUMMARY OF MOST SIGNIFICANT INFORMATION. IF DOC	UMENT INCLUDES A SIGNIFICANT BIBLIOGRAPHY OR	
LITERATUR	SURVEY, MENTION IT HERE.)		
An alternative but simpler technique for calculating the complete time and frequency characteristics of an unknown linear system from the measured amplitude response to cw excitations is described. The associated system transfer function so determined may or may not be at minimum phase. A comparison of the time responses shows the worst case. Results also indicate that the susceptibility of the minimum-phase system to damage by pulsed excitation is the greatest during the initial period of excitation.			
12 KEY WORD	5 (5 TO 12 ENTRIES: AI PHARETICAL ORDER: CAPITALIZE ONLY PROPER NAMES; AND SEPAF	TATE KEY WORDS BY SEMICOLONS)	
all-pass function; Hilbert transform; Laplace transform; minimum phase; non-minimum phase; system transfer function; time response.			
13. AVAILABILI	N	14. NUMBER OF PRINTED PAGES	
X UNLI	AITED	24	
FOR	FFICIAL DISTRIBUTION. DO NOT RELEASE TO NATIONAL TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE	CE (NTIS).	
ORD	R FROM SUPERINTENDENT OF DOCUMENTS, U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE, IINGTON, DC 20402.	15. PRICE	
	R FROM NATIONAL LECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE (1115), STRINGIES, 15 LEC.		
ELECTRONIC FORM			

NIST Technical Publications

Periodical

Journal of Research of the National Institute of Standards and Technology—Reports NIST research and development in those disciplines of the physical and engineering sciences in which the Institute is active. These include physics, chemistry, engineering, mathematics, and computer sciences. Papers cover a broad range of subjects, with major emphasis on measurement methodology and the basic technology underlying standardization. Also included from time to time are survey articles on topics closely related to the Institute's technical and scientific programs. Issued six times a year.

Nonperiodicals

Monographs—Major contributions to the technical literature on various subjects related to the Institute's scientific and technical activities.

Handbooks—Recommended codes of engineering and industrial practice (including safety codes) developed in cooperation with interested industries, professional organizations, and regulatory bodies.

Special Publications—Include proceedings of conferences sponsored by NIST, NIST annual reports, and other special publications appropriate to this grouping such as wall charts, pocket cards, and bibliographies.

Applied Mathematics Series—Mathematical tables, manuals, and studies of special interest to physicists, engineers, chemists, biologists, mathematicians, computer programmers, and others engaged in scientific and technical work.

National Standard Reference Data Series—Provides quantitative data on the physical and chemical properties of materials, compiled from the world's literature and critically evaluated. Developed under a worldwide program coordinated by NIST under the authority of the National Standard Data Act (Public Law 90-396). NOTE: The Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data (JPCRD) is published quarterly for NIST by the American Chemical Society (ACS) and the American Institute of Physics (AIP). Subscriptions, reprints, and supplements are available from ACS, 1155 Sixteenth St., NW, Washington, DC 20056.

Building Science Series—Disseminates technical information developed at the Institute on building materials, components, systems, and whole structures. The series presents research results, test methods, and performance criteria related to the structural and environmental functions and the durability and safety characteristics of building elements and systems.

Technical Notes—Studies or reports which are complete in themselves but restrictive in their treatment of a subject. Analogous to monographs but not so comprehensive in scope or definitive in treatment of the subject area. Often serve as a vehicle for final reports of work performed at NIST under the sponsorship of other government agencies.

Voluntary Product Standards—Developed under procedures published by the Department of Commerce in Part 10, Title 15, of the Code of Federal Regulations. The standards establish nationally recognized requirements for products, and provide all concerned interests with a basis for common understanding of the characteristics of the products. NIST administers this program as a supplement to the activities of the private sector standardizing organizations.

Consumer Information Series—Practical information, based on NIST research and experience, covering areas of interest to the consumer. Easily understandable language and illustrations provide useful background knowledge for shopping in today's technological marketplace.

Order the above NIST publications from: Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402.

Order the following NIST publications—FIPS and NISTIRs—from the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161.

Federal Information Processing Standards Publications (FIPS PUB)—Publications in this series collectively constitute the Federal Information Processing Standards Register. The Register serves as the official source of information in the Federal Government regarding standards issued by NIST pursuant to the Federal Property and Administrative Services Act of 1949 as amended, Public Law 89-306 (79 Stat. 1127), and as implemented by Executive Order 11717 (38 FR 12315, dated May 11, 1973) and Part 6 of Title 15 CFR (Code of Federal Regulations).

NIST Interagency Reports (NISTIR)—A special series of interim or final reports on work performed by NIST for outside sponsors (both government and non-government). In general, initial distribution is handled by the sponsor; public distribution is by the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161, in paper copy or microfiche form.

U.S. Department of Commerce National Institute of Standards and Technology 325 Broadway Boulder, Colorado 80303-3328

OFFICIAL BUSINESS PENALTY FOR PRIVATE USE, \$300